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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL’S REPORT

COMPLAINANT:

RESPONDENTS:

RELEVANT STATUTES:

MUR 7197 .

DATE RECEIVED: November 14, 2016

DATE OF NOTIFICATION: November 18, 2016
DATE OF LAST RESPONSE: January 6, 2017
DATE ACTIVATED: May 19, 2017

EARLIEST SOL: February 2, 2018
LATEST -SOL: October 1, 2021
ELECTION CYCLE: 2016
Crystal Brinkley

Eric Greitens
Greitens for Missouri and

" Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer

52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii)
52 U.S.C. § 30101(22)

52 U.S.C. § 30101(23)

52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)

52 U.S.C. § 30104(g)
52'U.S.C. § 30120

52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)

11 CF.R. § 100.22

11 CF.R.§110.11

11 C.F.R. § 300.71

INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: None

FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: None

L INTRODUCTION

The Complaint alleges that then-Missouri gubernatorial candidate Eric Greitens and his

state campaign committee, Greitens for Missouri and its treasurer Jeff Stuerman (the

“Committee™), violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”) by .

using nonfederal funds to pay for an October 2016 mailer, which allegedly constituted federal

election activity under 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii). Respondents acknowledge using
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nonfedér;cll funds for the mailer, which included the words “VOTE NOVEMBER 8 TRUMP

PENCE.” Respondents argue that the mailer focuses on Greitens’ gubernatorial election, and the

references to then-candidates Donald Trump and Mike Pence were incidental and should not be

con_lsidef:ed promotion or support of federal candidates.
A portion of the mailer expressly advocated the election of Donald Trump and Mike

Pence, which is federal election activity. Thus, the mailer should have been paid for with funds

_that complied with the Act’s amount limitations and source prohibitions. Accordingly, we

'reéommgnd that the Commission find reason to believe that Greitens and the Committee violated
52 U.S.C. § 30125(f). Further, the Committee failed to report independent expenditures for the
pbrtion of the mailer expressly advocating the election of Trump and Pence, and also failed to
include the proper disclaimer. Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission find reason to
believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(c), 30104(g), and 30120(a). We
propose an investigation to learn the amounts spent on the mailer and the dates when. the mailer
wz;ls dissel,minated. |
IL FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
| A'.. Facts

Greitens was a 2016 candidate for governor of Missouri. Sometime in October 2016, the

Committee disseminated the mailer at issue.! The Complaint attached a copy of a portion of the

mailer, which appears below:

! Compl. at 2 (Nov. 14, 2016). While the Complaint alleges that the Committee paid for the mailer in
October, 2016, it does not specify when in October the Committee paid for the mailer. /d. Greitens won the

gubernatorial election. http://enr.sos.mo.gov/default.aspx.
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TRU P 4579 Laciode Ave 138
PE .N CE St. Louis, MO,63109
GREITENS
P.ﬁ!ﬂkcé

arson

s O Ui terint Governor—

The mailer included a summary of Greitens’ platform next to a photograph of Greitens standing

with vice-presidential candidate Pence.? The mailer also included a disclaimer inside a printed

2 The picture cuts off some of Greitens’ statement, indicating that the mailer was larger than shown in the

Complaint. The mailer, however, includes sufficient information to support our recommendations. Respondents
state that the photograph of Pence with Greitens appears to have been taken during one of Pence’s appearances in

* Missouri to support Greitens’ candidacy. Resp. at 2, n. 5.
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box stating, “Paid for by Greitens for Missouri, Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer” along with the
Committee’s street address, which was not in a printed box.

The Complaint alleges that the portion of the mailer reading, “VOTE NOVEMBER §™
TRUMP PENCE” was federal election activity because it promoted and supportea those two
federal candidates, and Greitens and the Committee should have paid for the mailer with federal
funds.? Neither the Complaint nor the Response provides specific information about the mailer’s
costs.

The Missouri Campaign Finance Disclosure Law permits cofporations to make
contributions and does not limit individual donations to state candidates or committees.* The
Committee’s 30-Day Pre-General Report filed with the Missouri Ethics Commission shows that
the Committee éeceived contributions totaling $9,394,708 during the period from October 1,
2016, through October 27, 2016, including numerous contributions from sources prohibited
under the Act, and others that exce_eded federal contribution limits.?

Respondents assert that the photograph of Pence and Greitens should be considered an
incidental reference to a federal candida-lte, not an expression of support or promotion of Pence’s

candidacy.® Respondents concede that the “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™ TRUMP PENCE”

3 Compl. at 1. The Complaint also alleges that the mailer should have been paid for with federal funds
because it constitutes get-out-the-vote activity (“GOTV™). Id The GOTYV restrictions, however apply to federal
candidates and is not at issue here. See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1), (f)(1).

4 See MO Rev Stat §§ 130.029, 130.031, http://www moga.mo.gov/mostatutes/stathtm|/13000000291 html.

5 30-Day Pre-General Report, Gfeitens for Missouri (Oct. 31, 2016),

http://www.mec mo.gov/CampaignFinanceReports/Generator.aspx?Keys=B2G41dEVPKgI8c¢DcdGFsglsm99XwPL
2G0w9xyXJQAD%2boRw3b9CtnzNsDYedsZQgna%2bU86vL w71e%2fwH1%2bg90SZg1c%2fbtJooR. The
Complaint, which was signed on November 2, 2016, cites to contributions from the Committee’s 30-Day Post-
Primary Report dated September 1, 2016. That report contained a similar pattern of contnbutlons for the period
July 22, 2016, through August 27, 2016

6 Resp. at 2.
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language is a closer call as to whether the mailer promoted or supported federal candidates,’ But
assert that other messages in the mailer were more prominent, including “GREITENS |
GOVERNOR,” “Mike Parson for Lieutenant Governor,” “ERIC GREITENS” (in the large:_st font
of the mailer), and information about Greitens’ platform. Respondents argue that these facts
indicate that the mailer was an attempt to associate Greitens with Pence to influence Greitens’
election.®

B. Analysis

1. Use of Non-Federal Funds

The Act prohibits state and local candidates or officeholders, or their agents, from pa:@ying
for a public communication that promotes’or supports a clearly identified federal candidate |
unless the funds are su.bjec.t to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of the;
Act.® Commission regulations further provide that this prohibition applies regardless of whelfher.
a candidate for State or local office is also mentioned or identified in the communication, and
regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for or against a candidate. ™.

A public communication is a communication by means of any broadcast, _cable, or

satellite communication, newspaper, magazine, outdoor advertising facility, mass mailing, or .

7 Resp. at 1, 2-3. Respondents further assert that the Complaint does not allege that the mailer was

authorized by or otherwise coordinated with any federal candidate or committee, and Respondents deny any such-
claim. Accordingly, we do not address that issue here. '
8 Respondents further assert that polls showed that Missouri was not a swing state in the presidential ,
election, and Pence campaigned actively in Missouri for Greitens, who was in a close gubernatorial race. Resp.at 2,

‘n S

® 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 300.71. See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii) (federal election activity
includes a public communication that refers to a clearly identified candidate for federal office and that promotes,
attacks, supports, or opposes (“PASO”) a candidate for that office, regardless of whether the communication
expressly advocates a vote for or against a candidate).

10 11 C.ER. § 300.71.
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telephone bank to .the general public, or any ofher form of genera-ll public political ad;/'ertising.”
Respondents do not dispute that the mailer is a public. communication, and it is likely.that the
mailer is a mass mailing, deﬁned as a mailing by United Sta-tes mail of more than 500 pieces of
mail matter of an identical or substantially similar nature within any 30-day period.'?

The Greitens mailer is federal election activity because it promotes or supports the
Trump/Pence ticket as it expressly advocates their election. Although the Commission has never
formally defined the terms “promote” or “support” in its regulations, it has found that public
commur-nications that expressly advocate the election of a candi-date promote and su-éaport that
candidate, and constitute federal election activity.'* In determin_hg whether a cbmrr;_‘unication
contains express advocacy, the Commission analyzes the message under 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a),
c->r the broader definition at 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(b)."* Here, the Greitens mailer satisﬁ.:es' the
definition of “expressly advocating’; under 11 C.F.R § 100.22(a) b-y urging recipients to vote for
the Trump/Pence ticket in the 2016 gen-eral election.’

A communication express'ly advocates the election or defeat of a clearly identified federal
candidate under section 100.22(a) if it uses phrases including, but not limited to, “vote for the
President,” “re-elect your Congressman,” “Support the Democratic nominee,” “vote i?ro-Life or

Pro-Choice” accompanied by a listing of clearly identified candidates described as Pro-Life or

n 52 U.S.C. § 30101(22); 11 C.F.R. § 100.26.

12 See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(22), (23); 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.26, and 100.27.

13 " Factual and Legal Analysis at 10, MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party) (communijcation

containing express advocacy promotes and supports a candidate and constitutes federal election activity)..
1 Political Committee Status, 72 Fed. Reg. at 5595, 5606 (Feb. 7, 2007) (“PC Status E&J”).

15 See MCFL, 479 U.S. at 249. In addition to satisfying the test for express advocacy under 100.22(a), the
communication likely satisfies the standard for express advocacy under 100.22(b). However, because the

-communication clearly satisfies 100.22(a), it is unnecessary to analyze it under 100.22(b) to make reason to believe

findings in this particular case.
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Pro-Choice, or “comrmunications of campaign slogan(s) or individual word(s), which in context

can have no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of one or more clearly

 identified candidates such as posters, bumper stickers, advertisements, etc., which say “Nixon’s

the One,” “Carter *76,” “Reagan/Bush,” or “Mondale!”'¢ Express advocacy also encompasses a

communication that contains “in effect an explicit directive” to vote for or against a candidate."”

The fact that this message is marginally less direct than “Vote for Smith” does not change its
essential nature.'® The Greitens ﬁailer contains express advocacy under 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a)
because the “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™ language appearing over the words “TRUMP” and
“PENCE?” is equivalent to the express advocacy phrases s-uch as “vote for the Preéiden_t” and
“Carter ‘76” set forth in the regulation.

Respondents do not directly dispute that thq literal wording of the mailer asks readers to
vote for Trump and Pence. Instead, Respondents assert that the mailer focuses on Greitens’
election, and the references to Trump and Pence were an attempt to associate Greitens with the
Trump/Pence ticket to bolster Greitens’ chances, noting that the Presidential race in Missouri
was not competitive, but the Governor’s race was.

The Commission’s regulati<-)ns, however, do not exempt from the definition of “expressly

advocating” communications that advocate the election or defeat of a federal candidate while

16 11 CF.R. § 100.22(a). The Commission explained that the phrases enumerated in 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a)
have no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate. See Express
Advocacy; Independent Expenditures; Corporate and Labor Organization Expenditures, 60 Fed. Reg. 35,292,
35,294 - 35,295 (July 6, 1995) (“EA E&J”).

1 See FEC v. Massachusetts Citizens for Life, Inc., 479 U.S. 238, 249 (1986) (a communication is express
advocacy when “it provides, in effect, an explicit directive™ to vote for the named candidates) (“MCFL”).

18 See MCFL, 479 U.S. at 249,
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also advocating 'for_ the election or defeat of a nonfederal candidate. '° Further, by holding that a
corporation’ls communication.constituted express advocacy, despite the inclusion of issue speech,
the Supreme Court in MCFL e_ffectively recognized that a communication could héve a non-
electoral component and, at the same time, expressly advocate the election or defeat of a federal
candidate.2? |

Because the Greitens mailer expressly advocated the election of Trump and Pence, it
promoted or supported clearly identified federal candida.tes, and the Committee was required to
pay for it only with funds subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of
the Act.?!

The Committee’s disclosure reports to the Missouri Ethics Commission show that the
Comnmittee received donations from corporations, and donations from individuals and.other
persons in excess of the Act’s 2016 election cycle contribution limits.22 Accordingly, the
Committee received funds not subject to the limitations, prohibitions, or r_eporting reqpireménts
of the Act. Thus, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that Eric Greitens

and the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f).

19 MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), a case relied upon by Respondents, is materially distinguishable. In that

case, the Commission exercised its prosecutorial discretion and dismissed a soft money allegation regarding an
advertisement that compared the views of gubernatorial and senatorial candidates. The Commission dismissed the
matter, finding that the ad was focused on the gubernatorial race and did not exhort viewers to vote against the
senatorial candidate. In contrast, the Greitens mailer expressly exhorts recipients to vote for Trump and Pence. See
id,, Factual and Legal AnalySIS at 6. Cf MUR 6113 (Hollingsworth) (spllt vote case regarding mailer endorsing
federal candidates).

0 See 479 U.S. at 249-250 (1986).
u See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 300.71; MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party).
2 See 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a) (corporate contributions prohibited); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(1)(A) ($2,700

individual election cycle maximum per candidate); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(2)(A) ($5 000 multicandidate committee
election cycle maximum per candidate).
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2. Independent Expenditure Reporting '

The Act defines “expenditure” as “any purchase, payment, distribution, loan, advance,
deposit, or gift of money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing
any election for ngeral office.”?® An “independent expenditure” is an expenditure by a person
expressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified federal candidate that is not
made in concert or cooperation with or at the request or shggestion of such candidate, the
candid'ate’s authorized political committee, or their agents, or a political party committee or its
agents.?* Every peréon, other than a political committee, who makes i-ndependent expenditure-s
over $250 in a calendar year must disclose those expenditures in reports to the Commission.?

The mailer expressly advocates the election of Trump and Pence, and there is_ information
suggesting that the portion of the mailer allocable to Trump and Pence cost more than $250.
Thus., the mailer appears to be an independent expenditure that the Committee failed to report, in
violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c). |

The Act further requires additional independent exbenditure reporting within 24 hours of
the expenditure when .a person makes or contracts to make independent expenditures aggregating

$1,000 or more after the 20th day, but more than 24 hours, before the date of an election.

. While the Complaint alleges that the Committee paid for the mailer in October 2016, we do not

know the exact dates of payment or dissemination. The Committee’s disclosures to the Missouri

Ethics Commission indicate that the Committee made many payments for “printed material” and

2 52 US.C. § 30101(9)(A)(); 11 CER. § 100.111.
u 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17); 11 C.F.R. § 100.16.
2 52 U.S.C. § 30104 (b)(3)(A), (c)(1).

2 See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(g); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(d).
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“postage” within the 20-day window or just before it.?” Given the dates of these payments, it is
possible, if not likely, that the Committee was required to file 24-hour (or possibly 48-hour)
notices regarding the mailer under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(g). Accordingly, we recommend that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and (g)..
3. Disclaimer

As the mailer constitutes a public communication that expressly advocates for the
election of Trump and Pence, the Committee was required to place a federally compliant
disclaimer on it.?® Such a disclaimer would include the Committee’s name, permanent streét
address, and telephone number or internet address and a statement that the communication was
not authorized by any federal candidate or candidate’s committee.?® The disclaimer for a.printed
communication must be clear and conspicuous, be of sufficient type size to be clearly readable,
and be contained in a printed box set apart from the other contents of the communication.*

While the disclaimer on the mailer includes the Committee‘s name and address, it fails to
state the Committee’s telephone number or internet address and that the mailer was not
authorized by any federal candidate or any federal candidate’s committee, and it was not
completely égntained within a printed box. Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission

find reason to believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30120.

zn The Committee’s state reports reveal payments of $134,964.86 on October 3, 2016, for “Printed Material;”
$6,908.38 on October 4, 2016 for “Postage;” $2,029.25 on October 12, 2016, for “Postage;” $167,196.06 on October
13, 2016, for “Printed Material;” $5,207 on October 14, 2016, for “Printed Material;” $3,274.50 and $2,350 on
October 20, 2016, for “Printed Material;” $167,196.06 on October 25, 2016, for “Printed Material;” $334,392.12,
$70,080 and $435 on October 26, 2016, for “Printed Material,” some of which were made within 20 days of the
November 8, 2016, election. To the extent the Committee made expenditures for the mailer outside the 20-day
window, and the portion allocable to Trump and Pence exceeded $10,000, the Committee was required to file 48-
Hour independent expenditure reports. 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(c).

2 52 U.S.C. § 30120(a)(3); 11 CF.R. § 110.11.
2 52 U.S.C. § 30120(2)(3); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(b)(3).

3 2 U.S.C. § 30120(c); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(c).
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III. PROPOSED INVESTIGATION

We intend to obtain a complete version of the mailer, determine its exact costs, identify

the sources of funds the Committee used, and learn when it was paid for and disseminated. This

information will determine the amount of impermissible funds used and what independent

exfaenditure reporting was required under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and (g). We intend to conduct

this investigation informally, but in the event that these methods are ineffective, we recommend

that the Commission authorize the use of compulsory process.

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.

Find reason to believe that Eric Greitens violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f).

Find reason to believe that Greitens for Missouri and Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer,
violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f).

Find reason to believe that Greitens for Missouri and Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer,

violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and (g) by failing to report mdependent
expenditures.

Find reason to believe that Greitens for Missouri and Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer,
violated 52 U.S.C. § 30120 by failing to use the proper disclaimer on a public
communication.

Approve the attached Factual and Legal.Analysis.

Authorize the use of compulsory: process, as necessary.

‘ Approve the appropriate letter.

Lisa J. Stevenson
Acting General Counsel

Kathleen M. Guith
Associate General Counsel
for Enforcement
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Staff Attorney
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

RESPONDENTS:  Eric dreitens : MUR: 7197

Greitens for Missouri and.

Jeff Stuerm_an, Treasurer
L INTRODUCTION

The Complaint alieges that then-Missouri gubernatorial candidate Eric Greitens and his

state campaign committee, Greitens for Missouri and its treasurer Jeff Stuerman (the
“Committee”), violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”) by
using nonfederal funds to pay for an October 2016 mailer, which allegedly constituted federal
election activity under 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii). Respondents acknowledge using
nonfederal funds for the mailer, which included the words “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™ TRUMP .
PENCE.” Respondents argue that the mailer focuses on Greitens’ gubernatorial election, and the
references to then-candidates Donald Trump and Mike Pence were incidental and should not be
considered promotion or support of federal candidates. |

A portion of the mailer expressly advocated the election of Donald Trump and Mike

" Pence, which is federal election activity. Thus, the mailer should have been paid for with funds

that complied with the Act’s amount limitations and source prohibitions. For reasons set forth
below; the Commission finds reason to believe that Greitens and the Comrhittee violated 52
U.S.C. § 30125(f). Further, the Committee failed to report independent expenditures for the
portion of the mailer expressly advocating the election of Trump and Pence, and also failed to
include the proper disclaimer. Accc;rdingly, the Commission finds reason to believe that the

Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(c), 30104(g), and 30120(a).
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I . FACTS

A. Facts

Greitens was a 2016 candidate for governor of Missouri. Sometime in October 2016, the
Committee disseminated the mailer at issue.! The Complaint attached a copy of a portion of the

mailer, which appears below:

1
! Compl. at 2 (Nov. 14, 2016). While the Complaint alleges that the Committee paid for the mailer in
October, 2016, it does not specify when in October the Committee paid for the mailer. /d Greitens won the
~ gubernatorial election. http://enr.sos.mo.gov/default.aspx.
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[LPe0 Tor by Greite for Mssoun:Jefi S
579 Liclodo, Ave #4138 '
S, Louis, MO 63108

arson

The mailer included a summary of Greitens’ platform next to a photograph of Greitens standing

with vice-presidential candidate Pence.? The mailer also included a disclaimer inside a printed

2 The picture cuts off some of Greitens’ statement, indicating that the mailer was larger than shown in the

Complaint. Respondents state that the photograph of Pence with Greitens appears to have been taken during one of
Pence’s appearances in Missouri to support Greitens’ candidacy. Resp. at2,n. 5.

]
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box stating; ‘iPaid for by Greitens for Missouri, Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer” along with the
Committee’sj street address, which was not in a printed box. ‘

The Complaint alleges that the portior; of the hailer reading, “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™
TRUMP PENCE” was federal election ac'tivi:ty because it promoted and supported those two
federal candidates, and Greitens and the Coﬁmiuee should have paid for the mailer with federal
funds.? Neifher the Complaint nor the Response provides specific information about the mailer’s
costs. |

The:-Missouri Campaign Finance Disclosure Law permits corporations to make
contributions and does not limit individual donations to state candidates or committees. The
Committee’s 30-Day Pre-General Report filed with the Missouri Ethics Commission shows that
the Commi___'ttee received contributions totaling $9,394,708 during the period October 1, 2016
through October 27, 2016, including numerous contributions from sources prohibited under the
Act, and others that exceeded federal contribution limits.>

Respondents assert that the photograph of Pence and Greitens should be considered an
incidental reference to a federal candidate, not an expression of support or promotion of Pence’s-

candidacy.® Respondents concede that the “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™ TRUMP PENCE”

3 Compl. at 1. The Complaint also alleges that the mailer should have been paid for with federal funds
because it constitutes get-out-the-vote activity (“GOTV”). /d. The GOTYV restrictions, however, apply to federal
candidates and is not at issue here. See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1), (f)(1).

’

See MO Rev Stat §§ 130.029, 130.031, http://www moga.mo.gov/mostatutes/stathtm1/13000000291 html.

4

5 30-Day Pre-General Report, Greitens for Missouri (Oct. 31, 2016),

http://www.mec mo.gov/CampaignFinanceReports/Generator.aspx?Keys=B2G41dEVPKgl8cDcdGFsgIsm99XwPL,
2GROWIxXyXIQAD%2boRw3b9CtnzNsDYedsZQgqna%2bU86vLw7le%2fwHI1%2bg90SZg1c%2fbtJooR. The
Complaint, which was signed on November 2, 2016, cites to contributions from the Committee’s 30-Day Post-
Primary Report dated September 1, 2016. That report contained a similar pattern of contributions for the period
July 22, 2016, through August 27, 2016.

6 Resp. at 2.
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language is a closer call as to whether the mailer promoted or supported federal candidates;7 but
assert that other messages in the mailer were more prominent, including “GREITENS
GOVERNOR,” “Mike Parson for Lieutenant Governor,” “ERIC GREITENS” (in the largest font
of the mailer), and information about Greitens’ platform. Respondents..argue that these fécts
indicate that the mailer was an attempt to associate Greitens with Pence to influence Greitens’
election.®

B. Analysis

1. Use of Non-Federal Funds

The Act prohibits state and local candidates or ofﬁt;eholders, or their agents, from paying
for a public communication that promotes or supports a clearly identiﬁed: fedéral candidat'e
unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and -reporting requirements of .the
Act.® Commission regulations further provide that this prohibition applies regardless of whether

a candidate for State or local office is also mentioned or identified in thé communication, and

regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for or against a candidate. '°

A public communication is a communication by means of any broadcast, cable, or

satellite communication, newspaper, magazine, outdoor advertising facility, mass mailing, or

7 Resp. at 1, 2-3. Respondents further assert that the Complaint does not allege that th_'-e mailer was .

authorized by or otherwise coordinated with any federal candidate or committee, and Respondents deny any such
claim. 3

8 Respondents further assert that polls showed that Missouri was not a swing state in the presidential
election, and Pence campaigned actively in Missouri for Greitens, who was in a close gubernatorial race. Resp.at 2,
nS5 . '

? 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 300.71. See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(ii"_i) (federal election activity
includes a public communication that refers to a clearly identified candidate for federal-office and that promotes,
attacks, supports, or opposes (“PASO”) a candidate for that office, regardless of whether the communication
expressly advocates a vote for or against a candidate). .

10 11 C.F.R. § 300.71.
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telephone bank to the general public, or any other form of general public political advertising."!
Respondents do not dispute that the mailer is a public communication, and it is likely that the
mailer is a mass mailing, defined as a mailing by United States mail of more than 500 pieces of
mail matter of an identical or substantially similar nature within any 30-day period.'?

The Greitens mailer is federal election act.ivity because it promotes or supports the
Trump/Pence ticket as it expressly advocates their election. Although the Commission has never
formally defined the terms “promote” or “support” in its regulationé, it has found tha_t public
communications that expressly advocate the election of a candidate, promote and support that
candidate, and constitute federal election activity.!* In determining whether a communication
contains express advocacy, the Commission analyzes the message ﬁnder 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a),

or the broader definition at 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(b).'* Here, the Greitens mailer satisfies the

" definition of “expressly advocating” under 11 C.F.R § 100.22(a) by urging recipients to vote for

the Trump/Pence ticket in the 2016 general election. '®
A communication expressly advocates the election or defeat of a clearly identified federal
candidate under section 100.22(a) if it uses phrases including, but not limited to, “vote for the

President,” “re-elect your Congressman,” “Support the Democratic nominee,” “vote Pro-Life or

n 52 U.S.C. § 30101(22); 11 CF.R. § 100.26.

12 See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(22), (23); 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.26, and 100.27.

B3 Factual and Legal Analysis at 10, MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party) (communication
containing express advocacy promotes and supports a candidate and constitutes federal election activity).

14 Political Committee Status, 72 Fed. Reg. at 5595, 5606 (Feb. 7, 2007) (“PC Status E&J”).

15 See MCFL, 479 U.S. at 249. In addition to satisfying the test for express advocacy under 100.22(a), the

communication likely satisfies the standard for express advocacy under 100.22(b). However, because the
communication clearly satisfies 100.22(a), it is unnecessary to analyze it under 100.22(b) to make reason to believe
findings in this particular case.
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Pro-Choice” accompanied by a listing of clearly identified candidates described as Pro-Life or
Pro-Choice, or “communications of campaign slogan(s) or individual word(s), which in context
can have no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of one or more clearly
identified car.\didates such as posters, bumper stickers, advertisements, etc., which say “Nixon’s
the One,” “Carter >76,” “Reagan/Bush,” or “Mondale!”'® Express advocacy also encompasses a
communication that contains “in effect an explicit directive” to vote for or against a candidate.!”
The fact that this message is marginally less direct than “Vote for Smith” does not change its
essential nature.'® The Greitens mailer contains express advocacy under 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a)
because the “VOTE NOVEMBER 8™ language abpearing over the words “TRUMP” and
“PENCE” is equivalent to the express advocacy phrases such as “vote for the President” and
“Carter ‘76 set forth in the regulation.

| Respondents do not directly dispute that the literal wording of the mailer asks readers to
vote for Trump and Pence. Instead, Respondents assert that the mailer focuses on Greitens’
election, and the references to Trump and Pence were an attempt to associate Greitens with the
Trump/Pence ticket to bolster Greitens’ chances, noting that the Presidential race in Missouri
was not competitive, but the Governor’s race was.

The Commission’s regulations, however, do not exempt from the definition of “expressly

advocating” communications that advocate the election or defeat of a federal candidate while

16 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a). The Commission explained that the phrases enumerated in 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a)
have no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate. See Express
Advocacy; Independent Expenditures; Corporate and Labor Organization Expenditures, 60 Fed. Reg. 35,292,
35,294 - 35,295 (July 6, 1995) (“EA E&J”). ,

17 See FEC v. Massachusetts Citizens for Life, Inc., 479 U.S. 238, 249 (1986) (a communication is express
advocacy when “it provides, in effect, an explicit directive” to vote for the named candidates) (“M/CFL”).

_ 18 See MCFL, 479 U.S. at 249.




10
1
12

13

14

15

MUR 7197 (Eric Greitens, et al.)
Factual and Legal Analysis
Page 8

also advocating for the election or defeat of a nonfederal candidate. '° Further, by holding that a
corporation’s communication constituted express advocacy, despite the inclusion of issue speech,
the Supreme Court in MCFL effectively recognized that a communication could have a non-
electoral component and, at the same time, expressls' advocate the election or defeat of a federal
candidate.?

Because the Greitens mailer expressly advocated the election of Trump and Pence, it

promoted or supported clearly identified federal candidates, and the Committee was required to

_pay for it only with funds subject to the limitations, prohibiﬁons, and reporting requirements of

the Act.?!

The Committee’s disclosure reports to the Missouri Ethics Commission show that the
Committee received donations from corpbrations, and donations from individuals and other
persons in excess of the Act’s 2016 election cycle contribution limits.?? Accordingly, the
Committee received funds not subject to the limitations, prohibitions, or reporting requirements
of the Act. Thus, the Commission finds reason to believe that Eric Greitens and the Committee

violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f).

19 MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), a case relied upon by Respondents, is materially distinguishable. In that

case the Commission exercised its prosecutorial discretion and dismissed a soft money allegation regarding an
advertisement that compared the views of gubernatorial and senatorial candidates. The Commission dismissed the
matter, finding that the ad was focused on the gubernatorial race and did not exhort viewers to vote against the
senatorial candidate. In contrast, the Greitens mailer expressly exhorts recipients to vote for Trump and Pence. See
id,, Factual and Legal Analysis at 6. Cf MUR 6113 (Hollingsworth) (split vote case regarding mailer endorsing
federal candidates).

0 See 479 U.S. at 249-250 (1986).
2 See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 300.71; MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party).
2 See 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a) (corporate contributions prohibited); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(1)(A) ($2,700

individual election cycle maximum per candidate); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(2)(A) ($5,000 multicandidate committee
election cycle maximum per candidate).
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2. Independent Expenditure Reporting

The Act defines “expenditure” as “any purchase, payment, distribution, loan, advance,
deposit, or gift of money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing
any election for Federal office.”>® An “independent expenditure” is an expenditure by a person
expressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearl-y identified federal candidate that is not
made in concert or cooperation with or at the request or suggestion of such candidate, the
candidate’s authorized political committee, or their agents, or a political party committee or its
agents.2* Every person, other than a political committee, who makes independent expenditures -
over $250 in a calendar year must disclose those expgnditures in reports to the Commission.?

The mailer expressly advocates the election of Trump and Pence, and there is information
suggesting that t:he portion of the mailer allocable to Trump and Pence cost more than $250.
Thus, the mailer appears to be an independent expenditure that the Committee failed to report, in
violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c).

The Act further requires additional independent expenditure reporting within 24 hours of
the expenditure when a person makes or contracts to make independent expenditures aggregating
$1,000 or more after the 20th day, but more than 24 hours, before the date of an el';*;c.:tion.26
While the Complaint alleges that the Committee paid for the mailer in October 2016, we do not
know tﬁe exact dates of payment or dissemination. The Committee’s disclosures to the Missouri

Ethics Commission indicate that the Committee made many payments for “printed material” and

» 52 U.S.C. § 30101(9)(A)(i); 11 C.F.R. § 100.111.
2 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17); 11 C.F.R. § 100.16.
2 52 U.S.C. § 30104 (b)(3)(A), (c)(1).

% See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(g); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(d).
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t.27 Given the dates of these payments, it is

“postage” within the 20-day window or just before i
possible, if not likely, that the Committee was required to file.24-hour (of possibly 48-hour)
notices regarding the mailer under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(g). Accordingly, the Commission finds
reason to believe that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and (g).
3. Disclaimer

As the mailer constitutes a public communication that expressly advocates for the
election of Trump and Pence, the Committee was required to place a federally compliant
disclaimer on it.2® Such a disclaimer would include t.he Committee’s name, permanent street
addres;s, and telephone number or internet address and a statement that the communication was
not authorized By any fedel.'al candidate or candidate’s committee.?® The disclaimer for a printed
communication must be clear and conspicuous, be of sufﬁci.ent type size to be clearly readable,
and be contained in a printed box set apart from the other contents of the communication.>°

While the disclaimer on th_e mailer includes the Committee‘s name and address, it fails to
stat.e the Committee’s telephone number or internet address and that the mailer was not
authorized by any federal candidate or any federal candidate’s committee, and it was not

completely contained within a printed box. Accordingly, the Commission finds reason to believe

that the Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30120.

27 The Committee’s state reports reveal payments of $134,964.86 on October 3, 2016, for “Printed Material;”
$6,908.38 on October 4, 2016 for “Postage;” $2,029.25 on October 12, 2016 for “Postage;” $167,196.06 on October
13, 2016 for “Printed Material;” $5,207 on October 14, 2016 for “Printed Material;” $3,274.50 and $2,350 on
October 20, 2016 for “Printed Material;” $167,196.06 on October 25, 2016 for “Printed Material;” $334,392.12,
$70,080 and $435 on October 26, 2016 for “Printed Material,” some of which were made within 20 days of the
November 8, 2016, election. To the extent the Committee made expenditures for the mailer outside the 20-day
window, and the portion allocable to Trump and Pence exceeded $10,000, the Committee was required to file 48-
Hour independent expenditure reports. 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(c).

2 52 U.S.C. § 30120(a)(3); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11.

» 52 U.S.C. § 30120(2)(3); 11 C.E.R. § 110.11(b)(3).
30 2 US.C. § 30120(c); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(c).




SO \WOO IOV AWM —

—

—
N

13

14

15

16

17.

8
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

27
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FEJDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

RESPONDENTS: . Eric Greitens MUR: 7197

Greitens for Missouri and '

Jeff Stuerman, Treasurer
I.  INTRODUCTION

The Complaint alleges that then-Missouri gubernatorial candidate Eric Greitens and his

state campaign committee, Greitens for Missouri and its treasurer Jeff Stuerman (the
“Committee”), violated the Federal Election Campaign Act .of 1971, as amended (the “Act™) by
using nonfederal funds to pay for an October 2016 mailer, which allegedly constituted federal
election activity under 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii). Respondents argue that the mailer

focuses on Greitens’ gubernatorial election, and the references to then-candidates Donald Trump

"and Mike Pence were incidental and should not be considered promotion or support of federal

candidates.

Based on the information in the record, described in detail below, the Commission
dismisses as a matter of prosecutorial discretion the aliegation that the Committee violated 52
U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) b)_l spending soft money on the advertisement, pursuant to Heckler v.
Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985). -Because the mailer expressly advocated the election of federal
candidates Donald Trump and.Mike Pence, the Commission finds reason to believe that the
Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(c), 30104(g). Further, it is not clear whether the mailer
contained a compliant disclaimer under the Act. Nonetheless, the mailer contained information
sufficient to identify Greitens for Missouri as the payor. Accordingly, the Commission dismisses

as a matter of prosecutorial discretion the allegation that the Committee violated 30120(a).
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II. FACTS
A. Facts

Greitens was a 2016 candidate for governor of Missouri. Sometime in Octéber 2016, the

Committee disseminated the mailer at issue.' The Comoplaint attached a copy of a portion of the

mailer, which appears below:

! Compl. at 2 (Nov. 14, 2016). While the Complaint alleges that the Committee paid for the mailer in

October, 2016, it does not specify when in October the Committee paid for the mailer. /d. Greitens won the
gubernatorial election. http://enr.sos.mo.gov/default.aspx.
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VOTE NovEmgep g
TRU HPB 4579 Lisclode. Ave. mn

P E N c E St, Lonsis, MO 63!08

-nunq..,.‘."

GREITENS

arson

"—-ﬁmn&un' (ﬁh!‘niw- .

The mailer included a summary of Greitens’ platform next to a photograph of Greitens standing

with vice-presidential candidate Pence.? The mailer also included a disclaimer inside a printed

2 The picture cuts off some of Greitens’ statement, indicating that the mailer was larger than shown in the

Complaint. Respondents state that the photograph of Pence with Greitens appears to have been taken during one of
Pence’s appearances in Missouri to support Greitens’ candidacy. Resp. at 2, n. 5.
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box stating, “:Paid for by Greitens for Missouri, Jeff Stu-erman, Treasurer” alo;lg with the
Commit'tee’s-'street address, which was not in a printed box. _

The C"pr;lplaint alleges that the portion of the mailer reading:,.:.“VOT[TZ NOVEMBER 8™
TRUMP PEN.'C'E”I was federal election activity'because it promoted and supported those two
federal candidaités, and G%re_itens_and the Committee should have paid for the mailer with federal
funds.? Neither .the Complgint nor the Response provides specific jnfonnatign about the mailer’s
costs.

The Mfss_ouri Carﬁpaign Finance Disclosure La.w permits corporatiqns to make
contributions and does not limit individual donations to state candidatés or committees.* - The
Committee’s 8 Days Before Repért filed with the Missouri Ethics Commission shows tl;at the
Committee received contributions totaling $9,394,708 during the period October 1, 2016 through..
October 27, 20_!6, including numerous contributions from sources prohibited under the Act_, and
at least $722,44"'2..from sources permissible under the A_ct.s |

Respondents assert that the photograph of Pence and Greitens should be considered an

incidental reference to a federal candidate, not an expression of support or promotion of Pence’s

3 "Compl. at 1. The Complaint also alleges that the mailer should have been paid for with federal funds

because it constitutes get-out-the-vote activity ("GOTV”). Id. The GOTYV restrictions, however, apply to federal
candidates and is not at issue here See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1), (f)(1).

4

See MO Rev Stat §§ 130. 029 130.031, http://www moga.mo. gov/mostatutes/stathtml/ 13000000291 html.

5 30-Day Pre-General Report, Greitens for Missouri (Oct. 31, 2016),

http://www.mec mo.gov/CampaignFinanceReports/Generator. aspx?Kexs—BZGMdEVPKngchdGFngsm92XwP
2GOw9xyXJQAD%2boRw3b9CtnzNsDY edsZQqna%2bU86vL w7le%2fwHI%2bg90SZg1c%2fbtlooR. The

Complaint, which was signed on November 2, 2016, cites to contributions from the Committee’s 30-Day Post-
Primary Report dated September 1, 2016. That report contained a similar pattern of contributions for the period
July 22, 2016, through August 27, 2016.







